2016

**State of Utah Plaintiff/ Appellee vs. Richard Simon Garcia
Defendant/ Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF COURT OF APPEALS

Defendant Richard Simon Garcia was charged in the Third District Court in and for Salt Lake County in an Information charging Aggravated Robbery, a First Degree Felony, Utah Code Ann. §76 – 6 – 302; and Failure to Respond to Officer’s Signal to Stop in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 41-6a-210, a Third Degree Felony; False Information to a Law Enforcement Officer, a Class A Misdemeanor, , Utah Code Ann. § 76-8-506; Failure to Stop at the Command of a Police Officer, a Class A misdemeanor, Utah Code Ann.§76-8-305.5; and Driving On a Suspended or Revoked Operator’s License, a Class C Misdemeanor, Utah Code Ann. §53-3-227(1). R. 1-4. The Information is appended as Addendum A.

Mr. Garcia's statement in advance of his plea of guilty, R.55-61, is appended hereto as Addendum B. Mr. Garcia was convicted by a plea of guilty of one count of Aggravated Robbery, a first degree felony, with the remaining charges in this case dismissed and the charges in district court cases numbered 141909663 and 141910615 dismissed with prejudice. R.62-63;R.157-174. The minutes and transcript of the proceedings are included in Addendum C.

Mr. Garcia was sentenced to serve the indeterminate term of 5 years to life in the Utah State prison. R.73-74;R.175-184. Mr. Garcia did not move to set aside his plea of guilty. From the Sentence, Judgment, and Commitment (Addendum D), R. 84 – 85, Mr. Garcia filed an untimely Notice of Appeal. R. 75-78. The Supreme Court transferred the case to this Court. R.91-94. This Court dismissed for lack of appellate jurisdiction and remanded to the district court. R.120-121.

Mr. Garcia moved in the district court pursuant to Utah R. App. P. 4(f) to reinstate the time in which to appeal. R.108-115. The district court ordered the time to appeal reinstated. R.136-137. Mr. Garcia timely appealed from the order of reinstatement. R.136-137.

The Supreme Court again transferred this case to the Court of Appeals, R.148-150, which has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j) (2008), governing cases transferred to the Court of Appeals from

the Supreme Court.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW, STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW, PRESERVATION AND GROUNDS FOR APPEAL

A. **Issue:** Did the court abuse its discretion in sentencing Mr. Garcia to five to life in the Utah State Prison?

B. **Standard of Review and Preservation:** Sentencing decisions are reviewed for abuse of discretion. See *State v. Miera*, 2015 UT App 46, ¶ 5, 345 P.3d 761.

RULES, STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

There are no constitutional or statutory provisions of particular or central importance to this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 22, 2014, Mr. Garcia was charged in the Third District Court Aggravated Robbery, a First Degree Felony, Utah Code Ann. §76 – 6 – 302; and Failure to Respond to Officer’s Signal to Stop in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 41-6a-210, a Third Degree Felony; False Information to a Law Enforcement Officer, a Class A Misdemeanor, § 76-8-506; Failure to Stop at the Command of a Police Officer, a Class A misdemeanor, 76-8-305.5; and Driving On a Suspended or Revoked Operator’s License, a Class C Misdemeanor, Utah Code Ann. §53-3-

227(1). R. 1-4. Pursuant to a plea agreement, Mr. Garcia entered a plea of guilty to Aggravated Robbery on February 3, 2015. R.55-61;R.73-74;R.157-174.

On March 23, 2015, Mr. Garcia was sentenced to five years to life for the Aggravated Robbery. R. 84-85;R.174-184. A copy of the sentencing transcript is appended hereto as Addendum E. Mr. Garcia has appealed his sentence. R.140-141.

At the time of sentencing, Garcia brought the court's attention to the fact that he had taken Xanax, a medication he was unaware of at the time, and that he had absolutely no memory of the events surrounding the robbery. R.178-179,181. Mr. Garcia did however accept full responsibility for the crime of which he was convicted. R.178. Mr. Garcia was very contrite, stating on the record: "I don't really recollect anything, but I'm not trying to minimize my crime or take anything away from Mr. King (the victim). I pray every night that I - that what I did to this gentleman, this young man, does not affect his life . . ." R.181.

His counsel brought to the court's attention the fact that at 45 years old he was beginning to "age out" of criminal conduct and, during his current incarceration awaiting disposition, had been accepted and wait listed to enter into the substance abuse program at Odyssey House. R.178. It can take up to a year to gain entrance to that program and he had already been waiting many months

working his way toward that much needed program. Id. He indicated his desperate desire to obtain treatment for his methamphetamine substance abuse problem. R.178-179. Further Garcia's counsel noted the substantial work which Garcia had accomplished during his time in jail awaiting disposition. R.178. He exhibited the Certificates of Completion he had received while incarcerated for completing the Mind-Altering Substances Anonymous course requirements, R.68-69, and the Certificate of Attendance and Completion of the ten classes in the LDS Addiction Recovery Program, R.70. R.178. These Certificates are included in Addendum F.

Counsel first requested that, given the circumstances, the court consider sentencing Mr. Garcia to one degree lower than the first degree felony, i.e., a one to 15. R.178. Although, if this were to occur and he were placed on probation, he would nevertheless do substantially more jail time awaiting placement, he could then take advantage of the Odyssey House program. R.179. He had stopped drinking and quit using other substances, but needed help in ridding himself of his methamphetamine addiction. R.179. Mr. Garcia, speaking for himself, acknowledged that he had a serious problem with amphetamine. R.180-181. He had been enrolled in Stevens-Henager College prior to this incident, when he "messed up," and believed that if given one more chance, this time he could

receive the treatment he needed and become a productive citizen. R.181.

Nevertheless, even with these most compelling circumstances, the district court sentenced Mr. Garcia to five to life in the Utah State Prison on the First Degree Felony. R.84-85;R.182.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Garcia argues that the district court abused its discretion when it imposed the sentence he received.

ARGUMENT

THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT SENTENCED MR. GARCIA.

Mr. Garcia maintains the court abused its discretion in this case. A criminal sentence "should be appropriate for the defendant in light of his background and the crime committed and also serve the interests of society which underlie the criminal justice system." *State v. Wanosik*, 2001 UT App 241, ¶ 34, 31 P.3d 615 (internal quotation marks omitted). "[A] trial court's sentencing decision will not be overturned unless it exceeds statutory or constitutional limits, the judge failed to consider all the legally relevant factors, or the actions of the judge were so inherently unfair as to constitute abuse of discretion." *State v. Killpack*, 2008 UT 49, ¶ 59, 191 P.3d 17 (internal quotation marks omitted). "'An abuse of discretion

results when the judge fails to consider all legally relevant factors or if the sentence imposed is clearly excessive." *State v. Maez*, 2015 UT App 55, ¶ 2, 346 P.3d 671, quoting *State v. Valdovinos*, 2003 UT App 432, ¶ 14, 82 P.3d 1167.

The due process clause of the Utah Constitution "requires that a sentencing judge act on reasonably reliable and relevant information in exercising discretion in fixing a sentence." *Wanosik*, 2001 UT App 241, 1134. Although the sentencing judge has discretion in determining what punishment fits both the crime and the offender, Utah courts "have consistently sought to shore up the soundness and reliability of the factual basis upon which the judge must rely in the exercise of that sentencing discretion." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted).

Mr. Garcia, in addition to his accomplishments while incarcerated, at the time of allocution indicated that he had a reentry plan, that he strongly desired to address his meth addiction problem which was at the root of his criminal behavior, and was on the wait list to enter Odyssey House for that essential treatment. R.175-184. It is his position that this was an abuse of discretion.