Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2016

State of Ut Ah, Plaintiff/ Appellee, v. Richard Simon Garoa, Defendant/Appellant.

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Defendant appeals from a sentence for aggravated robbery, a first degree felony. This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j) (West Supp. 2016-2017).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Did the sentencing court abuse its discretion by sentencing Garcia to

prison rather than placing him on probation?

Standard of Review. Sentencing decisions are reviewed for abuse of

discretion. State v. Helms, 2002 UT 12, ¶8, 40 P.3d 626.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

 \bigcirc

١

6

6

G

୍ଚ

୍

6

6

6

5

There are no dispositive constitutional provisions, statutes, or rules at issue in this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Summary of facts.¹

Midafternoon on 16 September 2014, West Valley City police officers responded to an apartment in west Salt Lake County, based on a report that three intruders were present. R3. Upon entering the apartment, officers found a man—who identified himself as Richard Montoya, but who was later identified as Defendant—slumped over the kitchen table, and who "kept sliding into the wall." *Id.* Defendant was also drooling, incoherent, and unable to stand on his own. *Id.* Defendant told officers he had taken a blue pill that he bought from someone else, but did not know what it was. *Id.* The officers took Defendant to Pioneer Valley Hospital for treatment. *Id.* After the officers left, however, Defendant pulled out an I.V. in his arm and walked away from the hospital. *Id.*

-2-

¹ Because Defendant pleaded guilty, the facts are taken from the statement of probable cause (R3-4), his statement in support of his guilty plea (R55-61), the presentence report (187-201), and the sentencing hearing (R175-184). The sentencing transcript is attached as Addendum A.

Later that same day, near 6:00 p.m., Anthony King was at work delivering pizzas when Defendant approached King, who was standing outside of his car, and asked for a ride. *Id.* King told Defendant that he could not give him a ride because it was against his employer's policy to do so. *Id.* When King tried to get in his car, Defendant slammed the car door on King and began hitting him in the face. *Id.* Defendant "told King it was life or his car, so King got out and" Defendant stole King's car, an orange Dodge Neon. *Id.*

Shortly thereafter, West Valley City officers deployed spikes to stop the stolen Neon. R4. Defendant successfully swerved the Neon to avoid the first set of spikes. *Id.* However, when Defendant swerved to avoid a second set of spikes, he lost control of the Neon, striking both a wooden power pole and a chain link fence. *Id.* After crashing the Neon, Defendant and his female passenger fled on foot, but were quickly apprehended. *Id.* Defendant was again taken to Pioneer Valley Hospital to get treatment for injuries sustained in the crash. *Id.* One of the officers who responded to the hospital after the crash immediately recognized Defendant as the same incoherent man officers had encountered earlier that day, and who had falsely identified himself as another man. *Id.* Further investigation revealed that Defendant's driver's license was suspended and that he had active

١

 \odot

ک

-3-

warrants. *Id.* Defendant's female cohort had drug paraphernalia and a knife on her person. *Id.*

(14)

6

٢

٩

Ŵ

0

6

6

6

6

6

B. Summary of proceedings.

Defendant was charged with aggravated robbery, a first degree felony; failure to respond to an officer's signal to stop, a third degree felony; false information to a law enforcement officer, a class A misdemeanor; failure to stop at command of a law officer, a class A misdemeanor; and driving on a suspended or revoked operator's license, a class C misdemeanor. R1-3.

Following plea negotiations, Defendant pleaded guilty to aggravated robbery, a first degree felony. R55-61; R157-174. Defendant's signed plea statement indicated that he "unlawfully and intentionally took a motor vehicle from another person by use of force or fear." R56. The remaining charges were dismissed, along with Defendant's charges in two other cases. R55; R160.

The presentence report (PSR) detailed Defendant's extensive criminal history, including his poor supervision history. R188,193-197. Three out of four times Defendant had been previously granted probation, his probation was revoked as unsuccessful. *See* R193-194. Defendant had also served sentences in both state and federal prison. R188. Given Defendant's

-4-

extensive criminal history, which included two prior violent felonies, and his poor supervision history, the PSR recommended the statutory prison term of five years to life. R188.

٢

Ø

٢

@

At the sentencing hearing, defense counsel asked the trial court to consider sentencing Defendant "one degree lower to a one to 15." R178. In support, counsel argued that Defendant was on the wait list for treatment at Odyssey House, that he had been on the wait list for "many months," and that it usually takes "nine, 10, 12 months to get into the program." *Id.* Defense counsel also argued that Defendant had taken advantage of other treatment opportunities, that he was 45 years old and thus "getting to the point where most people age out of criminal conduct," that Defendant was remorseful, and that on the day of the aggravated robbery Defendant had "taken a medication [Xanax] that he was unaware of," but that Defendant was also "acknowledging responsibility." R178-179.

Finally, defense counsel acknowledged that Defendant had "a substance abuse issue . . . for methamphetamine." R179. Although Defendant had stopped drinking, and also stopped using tobacco and other drugs, he had not stopped using methamphetamine: "That's a difficult one to overcome." *Id.* Accordingly, Defendant wanted to "enter a serious inpatient program to address that, which in this case would be at the

-5-

Odyssey House." *Id.* Defense counsel pointed out that Defendant had "done a fair amount of time in jail on this," and that he "would also do a lot more jail before he would even be eligible to go to the top of the list at Odyssey House." *Id.*

6

6

 \bigcirc

٢

٨

Ø

6

9

୍ଦ୍ର

0

6

The prosecutor argued that Defendant's history did not show that he would be successful on probation, or that any sentence other than a prison term "would be appropriate." R179-180. Indeed, the PSR put Defendant "firmly in the imprisonment category with the 10 year presumptive initial sentence." R180. To the extent Defendant asserted that the aggravated robbery here was induced by his drug activity, the prosecutor pointed out that "arguably, anything can fall under the header of drug induced activity," and that while "there are property crimes that people do in order to obtain drugs," Defendant's crimes were "violent felonies" that were "[n]ot obviously motivated by any sort of desire for drugs or any desire for anything other than to behave violently." Id. Given Defendant's history, including the instant aggravated robbery, the prosecutor argued that Defendant had shown himself to be "a dangerous individual" who represented "a significant threat to society." *Id.* Accordingly, a prison term was "the only appropriate sanction." *Id.*

-6-

Defendant also addressed the trial court. R180. Defendant acknowledged that he had "a serious problem" with methamphetamine, but asked for another chance to address it. Id. Defendant also claimed not to remember anything about the aggravated robbery, but emphasized that he was "not trying to minimize" his criminal conduct. R181. Rather, Defendant argued that "if given one more chance or one opportunity," he could "probably become . . . a good part of society." Id. Defendant acknowledged that probation "would be a serious test" for him, however, where he "would be out in the streets where there are other controlled – where there's other substance is, where whatnot, and that's where you really test my-show my-what I want to do with my life and not just sit here and give you empty promises." Id. Defendant also acknowledged that he had previously been enrolled at school, but that he "just messed up," and lost his "place to live." Id.

The trial court imposed the statutory term of five years to life, and imposed restitution in the amount of \$10,350 to King, and \$13,085.54 to Rocky Mountain Power. R182. The trial court understood that Defendant wanted another chance at probation, but the court had to "balance" Defendant's interests with society's interests. *Id.* Given Defendant's poor history, including the frightening nature of the aggravated robbery where

-7-

0

Defendant "found someone, beat him up, and stole his car, ran it into a telephone post," the trial court concluded Defendant was "a danger, not only to the person [he] beat up, but everybody on the road in between as this chase occurred." *Id.* The trial court thus determined that Defendant needed "to be in prison." *Id.*

6

64

6

6

6

G

6

6

୍ଦ୍ର

୍ଦ୍ର

Defendant timely appealed. R140-141.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant argues that the trial court abused its discretion by sentencing him to the statutory prison term instead of placing him on probation. He broadly argues that the trial court did not adequately weigh his desire to conquer his meth addiction and put too much weight on his poor supervision history, and the circumstances surrounding the aggravated robbery. But on this record, Defendant has not shown—and cannot show—that no reasonable sentencing judge would conclude that Defendant's repeated failures to change and the violent nature of the aggravated robbery warranted imprisonment.

-8-

ARGUMENT

I.

The sentencing court did not abuse its discretion by sentencing Defendant to prison rather than placing him on probation.

Defendant does not argue that the sentencing court failed to consider any relevant factor. *See* Aplt.Br.7. Rather, Defendant asserts that the trial court did not give enough weight to his "accomplishments while incarcerated," his alleged "reentry plan," his desire "to address his meth addiction problem, or the fact that he was on a waiting list for Odyssey House. Aplt.Br.7. Defendant further suggests that the trial court gave too much weight to his poor criminal history and the nature and circumstances of the violent aggravated robbery. *Id.* Defendant has not shown—and cannot show—that the court's balancing of these factors was unreasonable and rendered the result inherently unfair.

٢

60

@

٨

"A sentence in a criminal case should be appropriate for the defendant in light of his background and the crime committed and also serve the interests of society which underlie the criminal justice system." *State v. McClendon,* 611 P.2d 728, 729 (Utah 1980). That said, the court's sentencing decision "necessarily reflects the personal judgment of the court." *State v. Gerrard,* 584 P.2d 885, 887 (Utah 1978).

-9-

Sentencing courts traditionally have "wide latitude and discretion in sentencing." State v. Woodland, 945 P.2d 665, 671 (Utah 1997). A sentence will not be overturned unless the sentencing court bases its decision on some wholly irrelevant or improper factor, fails to consider all legally relevant factors, imposes a sentence that exceeds statutory or constitutional limits, or otherwise rules in a manner so inherently unfair that the sentence is an abuse of discretion. State v. Helms, 2002 UT 12, ¶8, 40 P.3d 626; State v. Sibert, 310 P.2d 388, 393 (Utah 1957); State v. Sotolongo, 2003 UT App 214, ¶3, 73 P.3d 991. And absent a showing to the contrary, this Court must presume that the sentencing court considered all relevant factors and did not consider irrelevant ones. See Helms, 2002 UT 12, ¶¶11-12; see also State v. Robison, 2006 UT 65, ¶21, 147 P.3d 448 (discussing presumption of regularity attaching to court rulings). In short, a sentencing court abuse does not abuse its discretion unless "no reasonable [person] would take the view" adopted by the sentencing court. State v. Valdovinos, 2003 UT App 432, ¶14, 82 P.3d 1167 (alteration in original) (internal quotation omitted).

(

60

٢

٢

6

(a)

(ii)

6

6

٢

6

Moreover, defendants have no right to probation. *State v. Mungia*, 2011 UT 5, ¶ 24, 253 P.3d 1082. Rather, the sentencing court may grant probation in its discretion. *Id.* That is because the "granting or withholding of probation involves considering intangibles of character, personality and

-10-

attitude, of which the cold record gives little inkling." Sibert, 310 P.2d at 393; accord State v. Killpack, 2008 UT 49, ¶58, 191 P.3d 17; see also State v. Rhodes, 818 P.2d 1048, 1051 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) ("[T]he discretionary imposition of probation rests in many cases upon subtleties not apparent on the face of a cold record"). Furthermore, these intangibles must be "considered in connection with the prior record of the accused," Sibert, 310 P.2d at 393, along with considerations of "rehabilitation[,] . . . deterrence, punishment, restitution, and incapacitation," Rhodes, 818 P.2d at 1051. Ultimately, the sentencing court must exercise its discretion in determining what it believes "will best serve the ends of justice and is compatible with the public interest." *Id*.

٨

0

W

0

As stated, Defendant does not claim that the trial court failed to consider any required factor; rather, Defendant's complaint is that the court did not adequately consider factors favorable to him. Aplt.Br.7. In other words, Defendant disagrees with how the court assessed and weighed the competing factors. But mere disagreement with the sentencing court's assessment is not enough. Defendant must show that "no reasonable [person] would take the view" adopted by that court. *Valdovinos*, 2003 UT App 432, ¶14 (alteration in original) (internal quotation omitted). Defendant cannot make that showing here.

-11-

The trial court balanced the various factors weighing for and against prison, including Defendant's poor criminal history (including three prior revocations of probation and two violent felonies), and the violent nature of the instant aggravated robbery. See R182; see also R187-201. The court also considered Defendant's admission that addicted he was to methamphetamine, as well as his assertions that he was remorseful, that he wanted to change and had conquered his other addictions, and that he was on the waiting list for Odyssey House. See id. But the court implicitly found Defendant incredible. See State v. Goodman, 763 P.2d 786, 788 (Utah 1988) (noting appellate courts give "'due regard . . . to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses'" (quoting Utah R. Civ. P. It implicitly recognized that Defendant had been given 52(a))). opportunities to change in the past-and had squandered them. See R182. The court thus concluded that it was time to move beyond probation and impose a more significant punishment for Defendant's violent crime:

6

6.

6

٢

6

Ŵ

0

6

6

٢

٢

Sir, I understand what you're saying, that you would like a chance, but at some level I have to balance your interests with the society – with society's interests, and I certainly do try that in a lot of cases, and I'm willing to go out on a limb in the appropriate case. Unfortunately, your history is such that I just cannot do that. The nature of this crime is such – if, in fact, it is [a] frightening crime. You found someone, beat him up, and stole his car, ran it into a telephone post. You're a danger, not only to the person you beat up, but everybody on the road in between as this chase occurred. You simply need to be in

-12-

prison, and your history has shown that. That's what I have to impose.

Id.

1

٢

٢

0

 \bigcirc

Given Defendant's poor criminal history, his admitted addiction to methamphetamine, the fact that he had yet to be accepted to Odyssey House, and the violent nature of the aggravated robbery here, Defendant cannot show that no reasonable jurist would have committed him to prison.

Defendant points to nothing inherently unfair or unreasonable about the court's conclusion that he had not earned the right to yet another chance at probation—and State-provided inpatient substance abuse treatment—in light of all the factors weighing in favor of imprisonment. *See Killpack*, 2008 UT 49, ¶59 ("[O]ne factor in mitigation or aggravation may weigh more than several factors on the opposite scale." (internal quotation omitted)). Nor is the prison sentence rendered an abuse of discretion by virtue of Defendant's weighing the factors differently than the trial court. *See id.* ¶¶59-61 (rejecting defendant's claim that mitigating factors considered by the sentencing court should have weighed in favor of probation). In short, the trial court acted well within its discretion when it determined that Defendant was a "danger" to society and needed to be in prison. R182.

-13-

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should affirm.